1995

West Valley City v. Kent R. Fullmer : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Because this case is an appeal from the final judgment of the Third Circuit Court, the Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction pursuant to Section 78-2a-3(2)(d), Utah Code Ann. (Supp. 1995).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

ISSUE: Did the trial judge correctly dismiss the charge against Appellee by holding that as a matter of law, Section 76-10-504 of the Utah Code requires that a concealed dangerous weapon must be carried in a moving vehicle? (See Transcript of Verdict, *West Valley City v. Fullmer*, at 1-4.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW: A trial court's interpretation of statutes is a question of law that is reviewed under a correction of error standard. *State v. Larsen*, 865 P.2d 1355, 1357 (Utah 1993); *State v. Shipler*, 869 P.2d 968, 969 (Utah App. 1994). "This court review[s] questions of law under a correction of error

standard, without deference to the trial court." *Shipler*, 869 P.2d at 969 (citation omitted).

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS AND STATUTES

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

This appeal does not involve an interpretation of any provision from the federal or Utah Constitutions.

STATUTES

Utah Code Ann. § 76-10-501

Utah Code Ann. § 76-10-504

These sections are included in the Addendum to this Brief.

RULES

No procedural rules are at issue in this case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal concerns the trial judge's dismissal of the charge against Appellee by ruling that Section 76-10-504 of the Utah Code requires that a concealed dangerous weapon be physically moved in order for it to be "carried." This interpretation of Section 76-10-504 contradicts the plain language of the statute and the case law that has interpreted it. A copy of the trial judge's ruling is included in the Addendum to this Brief.

RELEVANT FACTS

These facts were introduced at trial, but the only discussion of the trial judge's interpretation of Section 76-10-504 was in his final verdict. Since this appeal concerns the trial judge's final ruling and not the evidence, only that final ruling was

transcribed. These facts are presented here for background purposes.

Early in the morning of May 8, 1995, officers from the West Valley City Police Department responded to a call reporting a suspicious person in the parking lot of an apartment complex. The police officers arrived and discovered Appellee, Kent R. Fullmer, ("Fullmer") inside the passenger compartment of a vehicle. The officers approached and requested identification from Fullmer, which he provided.

The officers conducted a routine check for outstanding warrants, which revealed that there were outstanding warrants for Fullmer. Upon learning this, the officers took Fullmer into custody. The officers also searched Fullmer's vehicle as part of the lawful arrest. The officers discovered a Davis .380 caliber handgun under the arm rest between the two front seats. The gun contained a full clip of bullets, although there was not a bullet in the chamber. Another full clip was found next to the gun. Both clips contained five rounds.

Fullmer was charged with violating Section 76-10-504 of the Utah Code, carrying a concealed dangerous weapon. At a bench trial held on October 16, 1995, the trial judge dismissed the charge. He held that the term "carrying" in the statute required that the weapon be physically moved. Under that interpretation of Section 76-10-504, the trial judge held that as a matter of law the crime had not been committed. (Transcript of Verdict, *West Valley City v. Fullmer*, at p. 3, ln. 11-14).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL JUDGE IMPROPERLY DISMISSED THE CHARGE AGAINST FULLMER BECAUSE HIS INTERPRETATION THAT SECTION 76-10-504 REQUIRES THAT A WEAPON BE PHYSICALLY MOVED IN A VEHICLE IN ORDER TO BE "CARRIED" CONTRADICTS THE LANGUAGE OF THE STATUTE AND CASES THAT HAVE INTERPRETED THE STATUTE.

The trial judge's dismissal of the charges against Fullmer contradicts the language of the Utah Code and Utah case law. The Utah Code does not require physical movement of a concealed weapon, only that it be "readily accessible for immediate use." Utah Code Ann. § 76-10-501(2)(a) (Supp. 1995). A weapon is readily accessible for immediate use if it "is carried on the person or within such close proximity and in such a manner that it can be retrieved and used as readily as if carried on the person." *Id.* § 76-10-501(2)(l). Nothing in this language requires movement or implies that movement is necessary. In fact, a weapon could be secreted in non-moving vehicle, and still be "carried," if a person has control over the weapon and is close enough that the weapon could be easily retrieved. Thus, the Utah Code does not require that a weapon must be physically moved in order for it to be "carried."

Furthermore, the Utah Supreme Court has clarified the meaning of the term "carried." In *State v. Williams*, 636 P.2d 1092 (Utah 1981), the court held that the term "carry" means having the weapon under control and within immediate, easy, or ready access. *Williams*, 636 P.2d at 1094. In *Williams*, a handgun was secreted on the front seat of a vehicle, much like the present case. Whether

the vehicle had moved or not made no difference to the court's analysis. In fact, the court specifically agreed that its interpretation extended to weapons concealed within vehicles, whether or not the vehicle moved. *Williams*, 636 P.2d at 1095. In similar fashion, the charges against Fullmer should not have been dismissed simply because his vehicle did not move.

The trial judge's interpretation of Section 76-10-504 was incorrect. The ruling has no basis in the statute and directly contradicts Utah case law. Carrying a concealed dangerous weapon is criminal conduct because of the danger that is posed to the public, not because of the transportability of the weapon in a vehicle or on a person's clothing. Carrying is not determined by movement, but by accessibility. The trial judge improperly dismissed the charge simply because the vehicle had not moved. The trial judge's ruling should therefore be set aside and this case retried.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL JUDGE IMPROPERLY DISMISSED THE CHARGE AGAINST FULLMER BECAUSE HIS INTERPRETATION THAT SECTION 76-10-504 REQUIRES THAT A WEAPON BE PHYSICALLY MOVED IN A VEHICLE IN ORDER TO BE "CARRIED" CONTRADICTS THE LANGUAGE OF THE STATUTE AND CASES THAT HAVE INTERPRETED THE STATUTE.

The trial judge improperly dismissed the charge against Fullmer because his interpretation of Section 76-10-504 contradicts the plain language of the statute and case law that has interpreted it. Nothing in the statute or in cases interpreting the statute requires that a weapon be physically moved in order to be

"carried." Since the trial judge based his decision to dismiss the charge on this erroneous interpretation of Section 76-10-504, the decision should be set aside, and the case retried.

The trial judge's interpretation of Section 76-10-504 is not supported by the plain language of the statute. Nothing in the language of Sections 76-10-501 to -504, which deal with carrying a concealed dangerous weapon, requires that a concealed dangerous weapon be physically moved in order to be "carried." Although the statute does not define the term "carry," it does define a concealed dangerous weapon as one "that is covered, hidden, or secreted . . . and is readily accessible for immediate use." Utah Code Ann. § 76-10-501(2)(a)(i) (Supp. 1995). "'Readily accessible for immediate use' means that a . . . weapon is carried on the person or within such close proximity and in such a manner that it can be retrieved and used as readily as if carried on the person." *Id.* § 76-10-501(2)(l). Thus, if a weapon is hidden but still easily retrievable, it may be a concealed dangerous weapon, regardless of whether it physically moves or not.

For example, a handgun could be brought to a vehicle parked on a street, where it could be hidden where it is readily accessible for immediate use by a person seated inside. According to the statute, a concealed dangerous weapon is one that is carried on the person, or is within such close proximity that it can be retrieved and used as readily as if carried on the person. Even though the vehicle does not physically move, the handgun would be a concealed

dangerous weapon. Physical movement of the weapon is not a requirement of "carrying."

The trial judge's ruling also contradicts the interpretation given to the statute by the Utah Supreme Court. The court clarified the meaning of the term "carry" in *State v. Williams*, 636 P.2d 1092 (Utah 1981). In that case, police officers pulled the defendant over for a traffic violation, and did a routine check for outstanding warrants. Because the defendant had outstanding warrants, he was placed under arrest and his car impounded. The officers discovered a handgun in a satchel that was placed on the front seat of the vehicle, easily accessible to defendant. The defendant was charged with carrying a concealed dangerous weapon under the predecessor statute to Section 76-10-504.¹ *Id.* 636 P.2d at 1093-94.

On appeal, the defendant argued that he was not "carrying" the weapon on his person, and should not have been convicted of carrying a concealed dangerous weapon. The trial judge had instructed the jury that the weapon only needed to be accessible, but not necessarily on the person of the defendant. The defendant had requested an instruction that limited the offense to weapons actually carried on person of the offender. *Id.*, 636 P.2d at 1094.

The Utah Supreme Court affirmed the trial judge's interpretation of the statute, and held that a person is carrying

¹ The Utah Legislature has changed Section 76-10-504 twice since 1981. The statute was reworded in 1982 and 1995. However, the language at issue has remained unchanged since *Williams* was decided. See 1995 Utah Laws ch. 80, § 2; 1982 Utah Laws ch. 17, § 1.

a weapon when the weapon is in the person's control and within immediate, easy, or ready access. The court focused on the purpose of Section 76-10-504:

Clearly, the purpose of concealed weapons statutes is to protect the public by preventing an individual from having on hand a weapon of which the public is unaware and which the individual might use should he be so inclined. . . . As a factual matter, where the concealed weapon is shown to be under defendant's control and within his immediate, easy or ready access, he will be deemed to be "carrying" the weapon.

Williams, 636 P.2d at 1094. Whether the vehicle moved or not made no difference to the court's analysis. A weapon may be under a person's control and within his or her immediate access without being moved in a vehicle. In fact, the court specifically agreed that its interpretation applied to weapons hidden in vehicles within easy reach of a person. *Id.*, 636 P.2d at 1095. According to the court, accessibility is the determining factor, not mobility. Therefore, an individual is "carrying" a weapon when that weapon is secreted in an automobile within the immediate, easy, or ready access of the person. Whether the automobile moves or not is immaterial.

The charge against Fullmer should not have been dismissed because this case is nearly identical factually to *State v. Williams*. The only significant difference between the present case and *Williams* is that the vehicle in *Williams* moved while it contained a hidden handgun, and in the present case the vehicle had not moved. The other facts are nearly the same. Fullmer was first approached by officers investigating a complaint, and Williams was pulled over in a routine traffic stop. Both Fullmer and Williams

were taken into custody because a routine check revealed outstanding warrants. Both vehicles were searched because of the lawful arrests. A handgun was discovered in both vehicles. Williams was found to have carried a concealed dangerous weapon, and so should Fullmer. Whether the vehicle moved or not is irrelevant. Because his interpretation of Section 76-10-504 contradicts the Utah Supreme Court, the trial judge improperly dismissed the charge against Fullmer, and that decision should be set aside.

The trial judge discussed *Williams* when he announced his final decision. He held that *Williams* did not apply to this case because the car was not moving.

State v. Williams, though [dealt with] a vehicle that's moving as opposed to one that's stationary. If [Fullmer's vehicle] had been moving, clearly carrying extends to a vehicle that's moving; but if it's not moving, then it's not any different than placing it in a room some place.

. . . .

In this case, the vehicle wasn't moving and had not been moving with the weapon in that location, so I'm going to find that it doesn't meet the definition as carried.

(Transcript of Verdict, *West Valley City v. Fullmer*, at p. 3, ln. 2-14). As has been discussed, this interpretation has no basis in the statute or in case law.

The judge's ruling impermissibly creates a loophole in Section 76-10-504: A person is not carrying a concealed dangerous weapon if he or she can show that the weapon did not move. The legislature criminalized this conduct because of the severe threat to public safety caused by concealed weapons. See *Williams*, 636

P.2d at 1094-95. The threat is equally severe whether the weapons are located in moving or non-moving vehicles. If the legislature had intended to excuse weapons that are not actually moved while concealed, the legislature would have done so. Instead, the offense is defined in terms of accessibility, whether the weapon has been moved or not.

The trial judge held that a vehicle must move with the weapon before the weapon will be deemed to be "carried," and thus dismissed the charges against Fullmer. This interpretation contradicts the plain meaning of the statute and the interpretation given to the statute by the Utah Supreme Court. It also creates a ridiculous exemption from the law if the individual can show that the weapon was concealed in a non-moving vehicle. Therefore, the ruling was in error, and it should be set aside.

CONCLUSION

"Clearly, where the weapon is immediately and easily accessible, the fair import of the law is that the individual is 'carrying' the weapon." *State v. Williams*, 636 P.2d 1092, 1095 (Utah 1981). The Utah Supreme Court could not have used plainer language to define "carrying" for the purposes of Section 76-10-504. Movement of a vehicle has nothing to do with whether a weapon was "carried" or not. The relevant question is whether Fullmer had ready access to the weapon, not whether his automobile moved while it contained the weapon.