1995

# West Valley City v. Kent R. Fullmer : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This case is an appeal from a final judgement of the Third Circuit Court, and Defendant does not contest the jurisdiction recital of the City under Section 78-2a-3(2) (d), Utah Code Annotated.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

ISSUE: Did the trial judge correctly dismiss the charge against Appellee in finding that the vehicle must be moving, and are there other grounds to support the verdict as recited by the Judge?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The City centers its Appeal around the finding of the Court that the vehicle was not moving, but ignores other statements in the ruling of the Court, which appear to be sufficient grounds to support the ruling independent of the "moving-not moving" statement.

RELEVANT FACTS

It is unfortunate that the entire proceedings were not transcribed. The Defendant had gone to the apartment to retrieve some personal property at a friends residence, including this gun, which he stated "that he was told by the person from whom he acquired the gun that it did not work, or words to that effect". He had not tested the gun and was retrieving it for the purpose of having a gunsmith determine what needed to be repaired. He found that some of the running lights on

the vehicle were not working and proceeded to attempt to make them work by getting under the dashboard to find a fuse or some bad connection or whatever it was. He had placed the gun on the front seat and removed it from the box in which it had been stored, and placed the box on the rear seat, and the gun on the front seat, where, from his moving around and hitting or bumping into the seat, the gun fell under the armrest (and may have fallen between the seats in front).

It was in this situation that the officers arrived on the scene and one talked to him and loaned him a flashlight to work on the wiring and held it while Mr. Fullmer worked on the wiring under the dash. At this point, the car had not been moved, and there was no evidence that I recall which put him sitting on the front seat, although the City states only that Kent was in the passenger compartment of the vehicle.

I do not recall if he got the lights fixed, but it was after these events that the officers requested identification, ultimately resulting in the finding of an outstanding warrant for some other cause. They then searched the vehicle, after arresting Mr. Fullmer on the warrant, although I believe the car was released to Mr. Fullmer's father, or the owner of it.

In the ruling on the Verdict, the Court determined that the evidence which Mr. Fullmer gave was not sufficient to take the gun out of the statutory definition.

The Court also ruled concerning all evidence that the testimony "has credible-credibility problems."

The Court in its ruling also set a standard that to be accessible under 501 (2) (L) (Utah Code Annotated)-- "anything in the vehicle that's within certainly arms length----- could be said to be carried." This would be under the statute, according to the Ruling, the equivalent of being carried on the person or in such close proximity (as to constitute a carrying or concealment).

The Court also commented "that to place the gun in a stationary car is the same as placing it in a room someplace."

The evidence showed that he intended to drive the car home that evening, but when he found the not working light problem, he changed his intention to be to not drive the car until the lights worked, and he was working on the lights when the officers arrived. I do not recall

that he ever did get the lights working satisfactorily, and he was arrested before he could make a determination of whether or not to drive.

Incidentally, the security officer for the apartment apparently called the police, but no evidence of "suspicion" was given by him or the officers for them to check his Identification. It was the equivalent of a single isolated unwarranted stop. There was no further evidence as to whether or not he intended to recase the gun before he moved the car. (Suspicion being no articulable reason)

It was for all of these and other pieces of the evidence that the Court made its negative finding of lack of credibility of the evidence.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL JUDGE PROPERLY FOUND THE DEFENDANT NOT GUILTY FOR THE GUN NOT BEING "CARRIED", FOR THE REASON THAT THE EVIDENCE WAS NOT CREDIBLE AND DID NOT PROVE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THE DEFENDANT WAS WITHIN ARMS LENGTH OR READILY ACCESSIBLE TO THE GUN, AND THAT THE GUN BEING IN AN UNMOVED VEHICLE WAS JUST ANOTHER STORAGE PLACE UNTIL THE VEHICLE WAS MOVED.

In order to find a defendant guilty, the Court must find in accordance with Section 76-1-501, Utah Code Annotated, that the evidence proves beyond a reasonable doubt the elements of the crime, and that the defendant has the culpable mental state. The City charged him under a week old statute. Inadequate or no evidence put him on the drivers seat or within arms reach or readily accessible to the weapon. There was no testimony on intent except the fact of the gun and he being in the vehicle.

The Court also found the vehicle to be like a room, until the vehicle was moved.

Under those facts and the Courts ruling, the ruling was proper by itself without consideration of the discussion that the vehicle must be moving. There is no testimony about whether or not the arm rest was fixed or hinged, so as to make the gun readily accessible, if the defendant was on the front seat.

The ruling of the court is consistent with the reality of the fact situations of cars and weapons. It is clear that there was no evidence of his intent to conceal a weapon in the car. It accidentally got concealed. At some point it is lawful to carry the weapon and place it in the car, and at what point does it become



unlawful to have a gun in a car and to take it out to look at it (out of its case or holster). Does that constitute a crime? or is there not a crime until the defendant is in the car on the seat readily accessible to the gun, and determines with finality to be in the car with the gun encased or not encased. A citizen would have difficulty dealing with this statute, as to know what to do.

#### ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL JUDGE PROPERLY ACQUITTED THE DEFENDANT  
BECAUSE THE CITY DID NOT PROVE THE ELEMENTS OF THE  
CRIME BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

The City has the burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Section 76-1-501 Utah Code Annotated. The Court determined and made a finding that the evidence was with "---credibility problems." If the evidence is not credible, a reasonable doubt exists. If the evidence is not credible, the City has failed to prove all of the elements of the crime. The evidence was therefore not credible as to the question as to the "---readily accessible---" element in the statute. The Court also ruled that to be readily accessible that the gun must be within arms length, and the evidence was not credible as to whether or not the defendant was on the drivers seat, or in front of the drivers seat, and under the steering wheel, and obviously not within arms length, and when he was working under the dash, that would be a cramped position and the readily accessible test would fail, without adequate testimony.

The Statute on Intent is 76-2-304, Utah Code Annotated.

The expression by the Court in the Verdict to the effect that the "---testimony that certainly has credible--credibility problems." is a negative statement about credibility of the testimony, otherwise the Court would not have expressed the word "problems", if that is not true, then the Court would be expected to state that the testimony was all credible. Credibility is defined in WELISKA'S Case 1926, 131 Atl. 860 at 862. (headnote #5)

The credibility of testimony, its capacity for being believed, is one of the things to be settled before weighing it. If the testimony has not this quality there is no occasion for weighing it.

As these facets of the case are presented, I feel that the finding and Ruling of the Court are sufficient on these grounds alone. As to the statutory wording being changed, and some still being similar or unchanged, all of the words of the statute are